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Yellowstone’s First General Store
A Legacy of Jennie Henderson and Her Family

Robert V. Goss
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Delaware North’s Yellowstone General Store, 2005. Changes have been made,
but it remains similar to the store of 1896 (see pg. 22).

VISIT TO YELLOWSTONE NATIONAL PARK has been
Aa memorable experience for millions of visitors since

the parK’s creation in 1872. In those days, few visitors
could come completely prepared for a visit lasting a week or
more; the ability to purchase additional supplies or mementos
of their visit after arriving at the park was both required and
desired. Tourists were relatively infrequent during the park’s
first decade—government estimates of travel showed that only
about 8,300 visitors made the arduous journey to Yellowstone
from 1872 through 1882—but the acquisition of basic goods,
food, camp gear, and other necessities was still a real problem
in the park’s infancy.!

This was especially true because of Yellowstone’s remote
location in the Rocky Mountains a good distance from any
major population center. Virginia City, Montana, established
in 1863 as a mining community, became a Yellowstone gate-
way with the construction of the Virginia City and National
Park Free Wagon Road in 1873, but rail travel directly to Yel-
lowstone did not begin until 1883, when the Northern Pacific
Railroad extended its line from Livingston, Montana, south to
the new town of Cinnabar, located about eight miles north of
Mammoth Hot Springs.” The advent of direct train service to
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Yellowstone resulted in a five-fold increase in visitation over
the average of about 1,000 visitors each year for the previous
few years.? Although its construction was not completed for
two more years, the National Hotel at Mammoth opened for
business in August 1883.

By the mid-1880s, the park was served by the towns of
Virginia City, Livingston, Cinnabar, and Gardiner, Montana.
Unfortunately, when the inevitable and unpredictable need for
a particular necessity arose, these towns were still many miles
away—especially from the parK’s interior locations. Another
aspect of tourists’ “memorable experience” has been the desire
to take home souvenirs of their visits. Before (and after) there
were curio shops in the park, people collected pieces of Yellow-
stone itself, in the form of petrified wood, crystals, broken-off
portions of geyser formations, pressed flowers, and other items
they found interesting. Unfortunately and illegally, this type
of curiosity collecting continued even after curio and general
stores created an acceptable outlet for satisfying the demand for
material goods and curiosities. The sale of curios, park views,
guidebooks, tobacco products, and other items had begun at
least by the early 1880s. In 1881, photographer H.B. Calfee
set up a crude tent store in the Old Faithful area to sell his



pictures of the park, and in 1883, Ole Anderson established
a tent store to sell “coated specimens” at Mammoth Hot
Springs.* To create coated specimens, Anderson took common
items such as combs, bottles, horseshoes, crosses, pine cones,
or other such items and soaked them under the mineral-laden,
flowing waters of the Mammoth Terraces for a period of time.
The items came out with an alabaster-type coating, and were
popular with tourists.

At about this same time, what would be the first general
store in the park gradually began to take shape, as Jennie Hen-
derson and her family were establishing themselves at Mam-
moth Hot Springs. In the spring of 1882, Philetus Norris, who
had served as park superintendent since 1877, was relieved of
his position due to a variety of political intrigues involving
Congress, the Northern Pacific Railroad, and the Yellowstone
Park Association. His replacement was Patrick H. Conger,
the brother of Senator Omar Conger of Michigan. Clarence
Stephens, who served as assistant superintendent under Nor-
ris, did not care for this political turn of events, and asked
to be replaced as soon as possible.” George Legg Henderson
was chosen to be Conger’s new assistant, perhaps due to the
influence of George’s brother David B. Henderson, an Iowa
Congressman.®

George L. Henderson and his wife, Jeanette Thomas,
whom he married in 1853, had originally settled in Iowa, and
had 10 children together. Sadly, five succumbed to illness or
accidents by 1875, and George and Jeanette divorced four
years later, leaving George with the care of five children.” By
1882, Henderson was 54 years old. Apparently ready to leave
his sorrows behind, he set out on a fresh adventure in life.
He arrived at his new job in Yellowstone in May of that year,
and settled into the Norris Blockhouse at Mammoth with his

family, which included Helen “Nellie” Lucretia, age 29; Bar-
bara “Lillie” Gazelle, 21; Walter James, 20; Jeanette “Jennie”
Ann, 18; and Mary Rosetta, 11.® This must have been quite
an undertaking for a single man, a bit past his prime of life,
settling into a strange and still-wild country with a large family.
Yet, as will be shown later, the family and their eventual spouses
all pitched in to help make a living, and created or operated at
least four separate businesses in the park by 1897.°

The beginning of the general store at Mammoth seems to
have had twin origins. It primarily sprang from a post office
business operated by the Henderson family beginning in 1882,
and was reinforced a few years later with the establishment
of the Cottage Hotel Museum at the Cottage Hotel. On July
5, 1882, shortly after the Henderson family’s arrival, Barbara
Henderson was appointed Postmaster, operating the post office
out of the Blockhouse.!® The Hendersons moved out of the
Blockhouse the following summer, and into one of early hotel-
keeper James McCartney’s log cabins. The family fixed up the
cabin and used it as both a residence and post office.”! A T.W.
Ingersoll photo in the Yellowstone archives, dating to the early
1880s, shows a series of four small log buildings in a row at
the base of the hill close to where Ole Anderson later built
his Specimen House. A sign reading “Post Office” hangs over
the entrance to one of the buildings, and the cabin next to it
appears as though it may have been used as the Henderson
residence. Another building looks to have been utilized as a
barn or stable.!

Apparently, Jennie assisted her sister Barbara in the opera-
tion of the post office early on, and there were indications
that the ladies were attempting to make some money on the
side by selling curiosities to the tourists. Being Postmaster in
Yellowstone in those days was likely not a highly lucrative

George Legg Henderson (1827—-1905)
Jeanette Thomas Henderson (1825-1912)

Helen (Nellie) Barbara Walter Jeanette Mary
Lucretia (Lillie) Gazelle James “Jennie” Ann Rosetta
Henderson Henderson Henderson Henderson Henderson
(1853-1936) (1861-1941) (1862-?) (1864—1947) (1870-1948)

Charles H.
Stuart

|
|
|
|
|

\2 .
Cottage Hotel mar.rlages
businesses

\ Post
| Office Store m.

7=~ -Ash & Henderson Klamer's Store

Note: George Henderson was married twice more: to Hannah Burke Horton in 1889 (dissolved 1898), and to Elizabeth Ann Bryant in 1901 (marriage terminated same year).

The George L. and Jeanette Thomas Henderson family tree. George and their five children moved to Yellowstone in 1882.
His children and their eventual spouses operated at least four separate businesses in the park.
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position; even their father was
only making $75 per month as
assistant park superintendent. |
This certainly would not have |
been enough to comfortably
support six people, and any
schemes to make extra money
would surely have been wel-

comed. David Dobson and

William Ramsdell approached
Jennie in July 1883 about
the possibility of having her
sell their coated specimens in
the post office building on a
commission basis.”> The two
men assured Jennie that they
had received permission from
Superintendent Conger to con-
duct this type of activity, and
she displayed their wares for sale.'*

Later that season, R.P. Miles and A.H. Wyatt, who had
collected petrified wood, geodes, and various crystals in the
Tom Miner Basin area north of the park, also approached Jen-
nie about having her sell their merchandise at the post office.
She agreed to this proposal and was now acquiring a nice stock
of curios to offer tourists in what would soon become known
as the Post Office Store. In the fall, there were suggestions of
improprieties about the origin of these curios, instigated by
Superintendent Conger, who had developed an intense dis-
like for George Henderson. Conger’s negative feelings toward
Henderson had begun that year, when rumors in Washington
about administrative mismanagement in Yellowstone caused
the Secretary of the Interior to send Special Agent W. Scott
Smith to investigate conditions there. His report recommended
the removal of Conger on grounds of incompetence. Conger
wrongly blamed Henderson for having had a hand in the inves-
tigation, and began finding reasons to implicate Henderson
in wrongdoing." Conger also disliked former superintendent
Norris, and displayed animosity toward the assistants who had
worked for him. Although debate about the curios sold in the
Post Office Store reached the halls of Congress, it was eventu-
ally shown that the display and sale of all the merchandise was
quite proper and legal, leaving Conger to look for other ways
to embarrass Henderson.'¢

The ladies continued to operate a store in conjunction
with the post office in the following year. An article from a
hometown lowa newspaper in January mentioned the “Post
Office Store,” and noted that Barbara had gone down into the
basement of the store one day and was overcome by noxious
carbonic acid fumes that had built up. Luckily, she was soon
missed and someone went down to look for her. After finding
her lying unconscious on the floor, they carried her outside to

fresh air and safety."”
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The Post Office Store, circa 1880. The second building from the left has a sign above the
door reading “Post Office.” The first building on the left may have been used as a residence.

On April 4, 1884, Jennie A. Henderson was appointed
Postmaster, and the post office became officially known as
Mammoth Hot Springs, National Park Reservations County."®
Jennie and her family seem to have expanded the operation
by taking in occasional visitors to spend the night. A letter
from Herbert Rowe of England, dated June 27, 1884, noted
that when he and his wife visited Yellowstone, they stayed at
the Mammoth Hot Springs Post Office, which they described
as the only hotel accommodations in the park.”” The let-
ter did not indicate the exact date of their visit, but it must
have been May or early June.” The Henderson family con-
tinued their entrepreneurial expansion in the following year,
as George devised plans for a new hotel at Mammoth that
would be known as the Cottage Hotel. On March 1, 1885,
Walter J. and Helen L. Henderson signed a 10-year lease for
the establishment and operation of the hotel. The Livingston
Enterprise newspaper referred to the hotel on June 13, report-
ing that “Henderson Town consisted of seven houses and soon
will have an eighth.”

The article continued that the “Misses Henderson expect
to furnish cottages and board” to the public, and aimed to
make “their cottages and Cottage Hotel home-like and attrac-
tive, both as to comfort and economy.”” Construction on
the 2V2-story building began at least by June and continued
into December, when it officially opened on Christmas Day.?
The hotel was described as having 55 rooms, hot sulfur baths,
trained guides, saddle horses, camping outfits, and elegant
Quincy carriages for touring purposes. George Henderson
managed the hotel and advertised the business as a summer
and winter resort. An advertising card for the hotel claimed
“Science and experience prove that the mountain air, mineral
water, and sulfur baths are great remedial agents for all pulmo-
nary, gastric, and kidney disorders.””

George also began a new career as guide and interpreter.
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Several family members assisted him in the new touring busi-
ness, conducted out of the hotel. Helen Henderson, also
known as Nellie, became the first female guide and carriage
driver in the park, while other guides included her husband
Charles Stuart as well as Henry Klamer, who later married
Mary Henderson.

The year 1885 was a busy time for the Henderson family.
Evidently weary of his battle with park authorities and ready
for a life change, George retired from public service on June
2 of that year and put his time into the Cottage Hotel proj-
ect and a small newspaper, the “Yellowstone Park Manual and
Guide.”” The paper not only extolled the virtues and beauty
of countless park features, but also gave Henderson a medium
through which to promote his family enterprises and “throw
in a few licks” at his adversaries in the park hotel bailiwick.
The paper sold for 25 cents, and advertised other businesses
in Mammoth and Gardiner. Of particular interest is that the
Hendersons were advertising for the Cottage Hotel six months
prior to its actual opening. Walter and Helen were advertised
as “Proprietors,” with a rate of $2.50 per day, and a discount
for extended stays.? They may have been using some of the
seven Henderson houses for this purpose prior to the actual
opening of the hotel.

Also advertised in the paper was the Cottage Hotel
Museum, which apparently was also located in one of the
various “Henderson Town” houses prior to the opening of
the hotel. “J.A. [Jennie Ann] Henderson” was listed in the ad
as proprietor, and a variety of items were mentioned for sale.
These included guidebooks by G.L. Henderson, Henry Win-
set, Philetus Norris, and William Wylie, along with “Cigars,
Tobacco, Tourists’ Supplies, Haynes Park Views, [and] Andet-
son & Fossum’s Famous Coated Goods.” A separate ad lauded
the various specimens in “Every Style, Plain and Lettered. Also
Masonic and other Symbols, Crosses, Anchors, [and] Hearts.”
Visitors could leave orders for items at the beginning of their
trip and pick them up upon their return.?”

Another ad listed a different line of goods at the Museum,
with a Henry Axtt as Salesman. It touted a “fine supply of
Taxidermist work of superior quality...Buffalo Heads, Heads
of Elk, Deer, and Mountain Sheep, And a full Ornithological
Department.”? This portion of the business may have served
as a legitimate museum for the entertainment of the guests, in
addition to being a sales outlet.

Meanwhile, problems were brewing that threatened the
existence of Jennie Henderson’s post office and store. When
David Wear was appointed Park Superintendent in July 1885,
he almost immediately began having confrontations with
George Henderson. Henderson disagreed with many of Wear’s
official actions, and went so far as to complain to his brother
in Congress. When difficulties arose concerning construction
materials for the Cottage Hotel, Henderson again went over
Wear’s head and complained directly to the Secretary of Inte-

rior.”

Conditions between the two men continued to deterio-
rate, and Wear became so worried about the situation that in
August 1886, he requested that all his mail be addressed to
him in Gardiner. He believed that “all letters and official com-
munications between the Department and myself are opened
and read at the Post Office at this place [Mammoth] before
being delivered, if delivered at all.”*® He filed a formal com-
plaint with the Post Office Department in Washington, and an
investigation was conducted. However, Wear had destroyed all
of the suspect envelopes, leaving no evidence for the inspector
to examine. The inspector interviewed Jennie Henderson, who
“emphatically denied that the mail of [Superintendent] Wear
or any other party had been tampered with in her office,” and
concluded that he believed Wear was sincere in his beliefs, but
that he (the inspector) was “unable to procure any evidence
that would substantiate [Wear’s] belief.”>!

In October of that year, Marion Baronett, who married
well-known park scout and explorer Jack Baronett in 1884,
became Postmaster at Mammoth. The location of the post
office was changed to the north side of Capitol Hill, in the
vicinity of what later became the Haynes Photo Shop. Mrs.
Baronett ran the post office for the next two years.”> Whether
this change of management was related to the letter-opening
incident is unknown, but it seems possible.

During that same year, Jennie ran off and married John
Dewing, a local frontiersman, much to the displeasure of
her father. Dewing became an abusive husband and was later
accused of participating in poaching activities in the park.*
There was little mention of Jennie in the records for the next
two years, and the extent of her participation in the family
business during this time is not known. When the Henderson
family formed the Cottage Hotel Association in January 1888,
Jennie’s name was conspicuous in its absence from the Articles
of Agreement, which specified that “No additional members
can be added without the consent of all members.” Jennie was
the only immediate family member not listed in the docu-
ment.* Jennie may have desired not to participate in the Asso-
ciation, or the family may have excluded her. Perhaps her father
was still angry at her for eloping with Dewing,.

Whatever the reason, Jennie was back in business when
she was re-appointed Postmaster on October 19, 1888, now
using the name of Jennie H. Dewing.®® Earlier in the year,
Mirs. Baronett had received permission from the Department
of the Interior (DOI) to sell a variety of tourist items at her
post office. These goods included photographic views, statio-
nery, and other unspecified items. The types of goods sold, and
their pricing, had to be approved by the Assistant Superinten-
dent, and the privilege was only valid through the conclusion
of Baronett’s tenure in office.® After Jennie took over the post
office position, she applied to the DOI for a “continuation...of
the privilege granted to her predecessor, Mrs. Baronett.” Her
request was granted on February 14, 1889.%

After the Army took over administration and protection of

(continued page 21)
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G.L. Henderson: Interpreter and Innovator

by Lee Whittlesey, Yellowstone National Park Historian
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DURING HIS MORE THAN 20 YEARS i i I
of association with Yellowstone, ‘;‘ .
George Legg Henderson became Wi

known as the recognized authority on
the park, serving as assistant superin-
tendent, park explorer, hotel owner,
tour operator and conductor, inter-
preter, newspaper writer, place-name
giver, parlor lecturer, congressional lob-
byist, and finally, “park nestor”—a nine-
teenth-century term for wise counselor.
He was also the first person to be for-
mally referred to as “park interpreter.”
By 1884, he had written voluminously Portrait of George L. Henderson, by F. Jay
about his activities in local newspa- Haynes, circa 1895.

pers and in his own journals, and was

becoming well known as Yellowstone’s

premier tour guide and writer. He had text on its front and back pages and
also given more than 100 place-names beautiful woodcut drawings of park fea-
to the area. By most accounts, those tures on its two inside pages.
whom Henderson guided found him Henderson warned that vandalism
well-informed as well as entertaining. to thermal features had to be carefully
Henderson’s contributions to inter- guarded against, and originated the
pretation in Yellowstone extended idea of laying planks down in thermal
beyond his personal guide services. areas for visitors to safely walk on—the
He had “finger boards” erected at forerunner of present-day boardwalks.
Mammoth Hot Springs “to inform visi- By 1905, Frank Haynes’s postcard of
tors where to find springs and other “Constant Geyser” at Norris Geyser
objects of interest,” and decried the Basin showed that Henderson’s safety
lack of signboards and bridle paths in idea had been implemented, at least at
the Norris and Lower geyser basins. He Norris.
constructed and installed a ladder into Henderson hired smart, conver-
Devil’s Kitchen cave that was used by sant tour guides and drivers, and
thousands of visitors to the Mammoth trained them to give interpretive tours
terraces until the cave’s closure in 1939. using his own up-to-date scientific
By June 1885, Henderson had com- information. He pioneered the hiring
pleted the Yellowstone Park Manual and of persons who spoke other languages
Guide. The guide was a newspaper, with with at least one guide who spoke
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French. And he used different routes
for his guests so that they would see
natural features and animals that cli-
ents of other guide services did not.
Henderson’s daughter Helen became
Yellowstone’s first female tour guide/
interpreter as well as its first known
female stagecoach driver.

The account of a tourist party
Henderson guided in September 1884
reveals that Henderson was busily
pressing his many original place-names
into usage at Mammoth Hot Springs.
Henderson’s fondness for the clas-
sics is reflected in the names he used,
such as “Evangeline,” “Othello,” and
“Thanatopsis” springs. “Bethesda
Plateau,” “Three Graces Springs,” and
“Golgotha Geyser” were borrowed
from the Bible; “Titian Basin,” “Tyrian
Spring,” “Dome Raphael,” and “Dome
Angelo” all referred to famous artists;
and “Marguerite Geyser,” “Hiawatha
Spring,” “Faust Geyser,” and “Barbara
Frietchie’s Well” all came from litera-
ture. Of the at least 213 place-names
that Henderson originated, at least 40
are still used today.

The “park nestor,” as he was
often called, extolled the magic of
Yellowstone in his lectures nearly to
his dying day. Two of his last known
lectures were apparently in Helena,
Montana, in March and April of 1900.
Henderson died on November 14,
1905, at the age of 78, at his winter
home in Chula Vista, California.




the park in 1886, conducting private enterprise there became
a more formalized, bureaucratic experience. Gone were the
days when a simple handshake and nod of approval from local
authorities could govern business policies and procedures. Now,
formal letters had to be written to the Secretary of the Inte-
rior before one could receive permission to conduct business,
or receive approval for the classes of services to be provided,
along with their pricing schedules. With this in mind, Jennie
Dewing sent letters in February and May 1889 that enumer-
ated the specific items she wished to sell, and their prices. The
items included various types of tobacco products, stationery,
writing utensils, toiletry items, colored glasses, gentlemen’s
ties, suspenders and hose, scarves, sewing items, gum, lemons,
oranges, key rings, matches, park views, overalls, and coated
specimens.? This wide selection of products indicated the true
beginnings of the general store business in Yellowstone.

By May, Jennie had stationery printed featuring her new
business letterhead, which proclaimed, “Yellowstone National
Park Post Office, Dealers in Notions, Park Views, and Coated
Specimens.” M.R. [Mary Rosetta] Henderson, Jennie’s sister,
was listed as Assistant Postmaster.”” This experience was to be
very helpful to Mary after she married Henry Klamer and they
opened a general store at Old Faithful. In the meantime, the
two ladies continued to use the same log building that Mrs.
Baronett had utilized north of Capitol Hill, both as a residence
and business.*

At around the same time, the Henderson family was expe-
riencing changes involving their Cottage Hotel. The Yellow-
stone Park Association (YPA), which controlled the National
Hotel at Mammoth, and other, more primitive hotels at Old
Faithful, Canyon, Lake, and Norris, held a tremendous amount
of political power in the park and had considerable financial
backing. Its goal was to achieve a monopoly of the park hotel
business.* The pressures that the YPA exerted on the fledgling
Cottage Hotel eventually became too great, and the Hender-
sons sold it to YPA in May 1889. One of the clauses in the
sale contract stipulated that George Henderson be retained as
a lobbyist for the company, and be allowed to continue his
activities as park interpreter.* As a lobbyist, Henderson spent
time in Washington, D.C., promoting the park and working
for increased park appropriations. Walter and his wife Eva went
to manage the Firehole Hotel for the summer, while Helen and
her husband Charles Stuart managed the Cottage Hotel. YPA
manager E.C. Waters promised to keep both Stuart and Henry
Klamer busy working for the summer.*

There is little mention of the Post Office Store in park
records for the next few years. In 1890, George Henderson
noted that a tent-addition was added to the store.* By 1891,
most of the Henderson family was wintering at homes in
southern California, probably purchased with the proceeds
of the Cottage Hotel sale. A clipping in the Ash Scrapbook
revealed that three of the Henderson daughters were spend-
ing at least part of the year in National City, California, and

numerous other articles from the Livingston Enterprise noted
the family’s seasonal travels to and from southern California
from 1890 through the early 1900s.* George and Walter Hen-
derson were also residing in southern California for part of
the year; an 1896 newspaper clipping from their hometown
newspaper in lowa reported that Walter had “one of the fine
houses in Chula Vista, with good thrifty lemon and orange
groves, second to none,” and George was mentioned as having
a nice orchard home adjoining Walter’s and son-in-law Charles
Stuart’s.® Because Jennie was required to keep the post office
open on a year-round basis, it is likely that she spent some
winters at Mammoth during this period, perhaps sharing the
duties with other family members. Sometime in 1892, Jen-
nie spoke to Acting Superintendent Captain George Anderson
regarding her desire to construct a log addition onto the Post
Office Store.” Although Anderson gave her verbal permission
to do so, the records do not indicate whether the addition was
actually built.

Changes came into Jennic’s life the following year, when
she divorced John Dewing and married George Ash, superin-
tendent of the Wakefield Stagecoach Company.*® Jennie may
have been separated from Dewing for some period of time, as
an 1892 newspaper article referred to Dewing as being from
Gardiner.® She retained her maiden name, and after marriage
became known as Jennie Henderson Ash. The couple was mar-
ried June 25, 1893, at Mammoth Hot Springs, but because the
license was obtained in Park County, Montana, the wedding
party was required to “re-marry” in Montana. The group trav-
eled to Gardiner, conducted the legal ceremony on a bluff over-
looking the town, then returned to Mammoth for an elegant
lunch at Jennie’s home.*

Jennic’s new husband was appointed Postmaster on Octo-
ber 3, 1893, and in the following year he filed an application to
lease a small plot of land on which to build a new post office,
store, and residence. Acting Superintendent George Ander-
son reported favorably on the idea in his annual report.”’ In
late 1894, George Henderson wrote a letter to thank Captain
Anderson for his favorable recommendation on George Ash’s
request, and to say he felt “assured that with your endorsement
and my son-in-law’s good record and my daughters efficiency
in the past we can secure a favorable issue in the matter.”
Progress moved slowly on the issue, and in March 1895, Jennie
wrote a letter to Captain Anderson inquiring about the status
of the application; Jennie stated that she regretted bothering
Anderson about the matter, realizing he was a busy man, but
was anxious to find out about the application and whether she
would be able to move forward with the plan.>® Anderson was
in Washington, D.C., at the time, and met with Congress-
man David Henderson concerning the lease. After the meet-
ing, Congressman Henderson met directly with the Secretary
of Interior to file the application for Jennie and, as had been
the case in previous matters, performed a bit of diplomatic
persuasion.
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On August 7, 1895, the DOI awarded Jennie H. Ash a 10-
year lease to operate a store, post office, and dwelling at Mam-
moth. The plot was irregularly shaped, and consisted of 24,000
square feet of land. A yearly rental fee of $30, due March 20
of each year, was stipulated. The Superintendent’s Report for
that year justified the decision by claiming that “a store such
as Mis. Ash proposes to keep is quite a necessity here, as with-
out it there is no place nearer than Gardiner where notions
and small articles so necessary to travelers can be procured,
and even there the stock is meager and not wholly adapted
to the needs of tourists.” On July 13, 1895, the Livingston
Enterprise reported, “George Ash is arranging to erect a post
office building and residence at Mammoth Hot Springs.” That
construction project was aided by Alexander Lyall, who later
married Jennie’s sister, Barbara.> The following year, the super-
intendent noted, “As soon as [the new store] was occupied 1
caused the old log buildings she had used as a post office to be
torn down, and the locality to the north of the plain is now
free of them.”*®

The new store, located between the Cottage Hotel and the
National Hotel, opened in 1896, probably in the spring to be
ready for the summer’s onslaught of eager tourists. The enter-
prise was known as “Ash & Henderson,” and their letterhead
proclaimed sales of “Dry Goods, General Merchandise, Cloth-
ing, Boots & Shoes,” and of course curios and photographic
views; in other words, a variety of items that defined a “gen-
eral store.” The building was a nice-looking, two-story frame
structure with the residence on the left side, facing the main
road. It measured 25" by 40', and that portion of the building
(today’s Yellowstone General Store) still looks much the same
as it did in 1896. The store section of the building was 20’
by 29', and faced the National Hotel.’® Although George Ash
originally made the application for the lease, officials issued it
in Jennie’s name, and most of the business correspondence in
the files originated with her. Business letterhead from 1902
advertised her as Manager, and the business became known as
J.H. Ash & Company by 1907.° George Ash may have assisted
in the operation in the beginning, but he later seems to have
remained behind the scenes.

The Ash & Henderson Store, shortly after construction,
circa 1896.
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In 1897, Jennie’s brother-in-law Henry Klamer built the
second general store in the park, at Old Faithful. Klamer’s store
was near what would later become the Old Faithful Inn. Today,
it is known as the Lower Yellowstone General Store.

Private enterprise in the park in those days was competi-
tive, but at the same time highly protected by contracts issued
by the Department of the Interior. Contracts were specific
about the types of activities and services that could be provided
by an enterprise. For instance, when Ole Anderson expanded
his business by building the Specimen House in 1895-96, park
officials permitted him to sell other curios and tourist items,
but not general wares and necessities. Sisters Anna Pryor and
Elizabeth Trischman took over that business in 1908, and ran
it successfully until 1952. Although they expanded the store
to provide a bakery, soda fountain, ice cream parlor, and cof-
fee shop, they, too, were never allowed to sell general wares

% Other early entrepreneurs who may

and necessary articles.
have attempted to profit from the tourist trade prior to this
time operated out of temporary tents, and probably from the
backs of wagons, and were soon gone from the scene. Although
contracts often prohibited businesses from expanding into new
arenas, they also protected a business from incursions into its
territory by others. DOI officials realized that only so many
dollars could be generated during the park’s short tourist sea-
son, and dividing those revenues too many ways could leave
businesses with insufficient capital to properly maintain and
expand their operations, leaving the tourist to suffer.

Even so, enterprises had to be vigilant about protecting
their interests, and the Yellowstone archives are full of com-
plaints about one business trying to capture another’s com-
merce. In 1898, Ole Anderson requested permission to sell
wares other than coated specimens and curiosities at his Speci-
men House, but was denied due to the fact that Ash & Hen-
derson were already selling these items at Mammoth.®' Two
years later, Jennie wrote to her uncle, David Henderson, in
Washington, D.C., complaining about sales practices at the
Fort Yellowstone Canteen. It had been selling goods not only
to post employees, but also to tourists and stagecoach drivers.
While store prices were strictly regulated, prices at the Canteen
were not, and they could undercut the store at will. Jennie
requested that the Canteen restrict its sales to post employ-
ees and government drivers, as had been the previous prac-
tice. Congressman David Henderson intervened with Thomas
Ryan, Acting Secretary of the Interior, who agreed with Jennie
in February, thus resolving that issue.®

In another instance of protectionism that year, Jennie
complained to the acting superintendent in May about the
hotel association’s practice of selling goods within the store’s
merchandising rights. The hotels were permitted to sell items
such as tobacco products, playing cards, guidebooks, periodi-
cals, and newspapers. However, the YPA had also begun selling
curios and renting linen dusters and overcoats to their custom-
ers. Secretary Ryan again sided with Jennie, and advised the



hotel company to discontinue those practices. The issue was
put to rest, but arose again in 1906, when Harry Child, head of
the Yellowstone Park Association, requested that he be allowed
to sell dusters, wraps, overcoats, hats, and caps to his guests. He
complained that Ash & Henderson’s hours of operation were
inadequate to cope with the needs of his patrons. Ryan replied
that these items were within the domain of the store, but that
the hotel could sell any of them if the general store decided not
to stock them. At the same time, Ryan demanded that Jennie
keep her store open from 6AM to 11PM every day during the
tourist season in order to properly serve the public.®®

Physical expansion of the business came quickly when,
in 1897, the couple let bids for new construction at the store.
Alexander Lyall came up from Livingston to figure and submit
a bid for “an addition to the store of Ash and Henderson.”*
Park records do not mention these plans, but financial records
from 1910 indicate the presence of a storeroom, root house,
icehouse, and house addition on the property, and it is pos-
sible that any or all of these may have been constructed at the
time.

In the fall of 1899, Jennie expanded her retail operation
by purchasing a stock of furs and game heads from a business
in Colorado. Acting Superintendent Captain Oscar Brown
approved the purchase in September, and a month later Jen-
nie made a request to purchase a line of Indian and taxidermy
goods from Mr. Wittich (first name unknown), a taxidermist
in Livingston. Wittich had decided to drop those particular
goods from his stock, and offered his entire inventory to Jen-
nie. She was excited about the purchase and hoped that Brown
would approve the deal, but park records do not indicate his
response.®

Jennie was again appointed Postmaster in 1900, and took
over the position from her husband on February 19. George
Ash had been sick for some time with an undisclosed illness,
and was perhaps unable to continue his duties. He passed away
in early June in Salt Lake City. Jennie and her sister Barbara
traveled by train to attend the funeral, returning to Mammoth
around June 9.% Although now alone, Jennie at least had the
support of her extended family and was able to continue on
through this difficult time.

Two years later, officials changed the park’s postal designa-
tion to Yellowstone Park, Yellowstone National Park County,
Wyoming.”” The name of the store had also been changed,
this time to “Yellowstone Park Tourist Supplies.” The store’s
letterhead noted that in addition to the original stock, the store
was selling hay, grain, and novelties. The business seemed to
be doing well, and in 1902, Jennie requested permission to
build additions onto the store. One was to be 29" by 38" in
size and located directly at the rear of the store portion. The
other addition was 18' by 24, and located along the side of the
addition opposite the National Hotel, facing the main road.
The overall effect of the store addition was an upside-down,
L-shaped structure, and the floor space of the store increased

from just less than 600 square feet to over 2,100 square feet.®®
Alexander Lyall performed the construction of the addition,
as he had on the original structure.”” Construction on the
addition began in March or early April, and by mid-May it
was reported that the structure was nearly enclosed. In late
April, Lyall fell from a ladder while working, dislocating his
wrist and suffering numerous bruises and damage to his nose.
This misfortune may have slowed his progress on the struc-
ture. When he was later seen in Livingston, the newspaper
reported—tongue slightly in cheek—that he had both his arm
and nose in slings.”

Jennie made another attempt to expand her business in
that same year, this time into the parK’s interior. She requested
permission to lease two acres of land at Norris Geyser Basin and
erect buildings that would serve as a residence and a general
store. YPA had opened a new hotel and lunch station nearby
during the previous season, but there were no store facilities in
the area as of yet. For reasons unknown, her request was either
ignored or denied, and a note at the bottom of her letter was
simply annotated, “No Action Taken.””! Jennie and her father
left the park that October to spend the winter in southern
California.”

On August 7, 1905, Jennie’s store lease was renewed for
another 10 years, with the yearly rental fee now set at $100.
The terms were essentially the same as those of the original
contract.” Jennie decided not to continue as Postmaster. She
submitted her resignation to the Post Office Department in
a letter dated January 10, 1906, and recommended Alexan-
der Lyall as her replacement. The department approved and
appointed Lyall as Postmaster on February 6, and he began
sharing in the operation of the general store.” By that time, the
store was dealing in “Game Heads, Fur Rugs, Souvenirs, Agate
Ware and Indian Curios, Indian Baskets and Navajo Blankets
and Specialty, and Kodak Supplies,” in addition to curios and
general merchandise.”

That year, Jennie discovered that photographer Frank J.
Haynes was selling souvenir spoons and leather curios in his
photo shops—items that she felt were not within Haynes’s
merchandising rights. Together with Henry Klamer from the
Old Faithful general store, she filed claims with the DOI pro-
testing Haynes’s actions. Haynes defended himself by assert-
ing that he could indeed sell those types of items, as long as
they were embellished with his park views. This time, the DOI
sided with Haynes, and he was allowed to continue retailing
those types of curios.”®

During this period, Walter Henderson was spending at
least part of the year in the park, while his wife Eva and their
children were living in Seattle. By now, Jennie had lived and
worked in Yellowstone for 25 years, and the winters were tak-
ing a toll on her. She spent at least part of the summer, and
perhaps all of 1907, in San Diego with her family, as revealed
in a letter Walter wrote to his mother from Mammoth in Sep-
tember. In closing the letter, Walter sent his love to Jennie, now
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43 years old, and the kids.”” Walter may have been running
the store with Alexander Lyall, as Jennic’s life in the park was
rapidly coming to a close. In February 1908, Henry Klamer
wrote to Acting Superintendent General S.B.M. Young from
southern California, setting the stage for Jennie’s departure
from the park. Klamer disclosed that “Mrs. Ash’s health has
forced her to seek a better climate and feels that she can no
longer conduct her business in the park,” and implored Young
to do all he could to assist Jennie in transferring the business
to Walter Henderson and Alexander Lyall.”® The Secretary of
the Interior approved the transfer on February 27, and the
two men took over the lease on April 20. The purchase price
for the transaction is not known, but financial records for the
business two years later showed a $3,000 payment to J.H. Ash,
with notes due of $5,735.7 The new business became known
as Lyall & Henderson, and they were granted all the “rights,
privileges and franchise now enjoyed by and accrued to [Jen-
nie] by virtue of the terms of said lease.”® After a quarter of a
century as proprietor of Yellowstone’s first general store, Jennie
had passed the torch. The change of climate apparently aided
in Jennie’s recovery, as she lived until 1947, when she passed
away at the age of 83.*!

The business was now firmly in the hands of Lyall and
Henderson. One of their first acts was to request permission
to again increase the size of the store, with an addition measut-
ing 31" wide by 60" long. In their letter to the Secretary of the
Interior, the men bemoaned that “the original building has all
the outward appearances of a residence,” and that many tour-
ists “did not know there was a store on the premises.” They also
complained that they had inadequate space to carry the neces-
sary inventory for the increased numbers of visitors in the park
and soldiers at the post.*? Although correspondence among
Lyall and Henderson, the DOI, and Acting Superintendent
Major H.T. Allen continued for two years, no construction
appears to have occurred. The primary obstacle was that YPA
was contemplating the construction of a grandiose hotel at
Mammoth that would have expanded onto the general store’s

Lyall & Henderson’s store, circa 1908.
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plat of ground, requiring that the store be physically moved.
YPA would have been obligated to bear the cost of moving
the building, but the proposed new location would have been
less advantageous to Lyall and Henderson, and would certainly
have disrupted their operation for a time.® The staggering
cost of such an immense structure may have eventually dis-
suaded the company from proceeding with construction, and
the delays and uncertainties prevented expansion plans for the
store. (In the end, YPA retained the original hotel, but between
1911 and 1913, its fourth floor was removed, the pitched roof
replaced with a flat roof, and a four-story wing added on the
north side containing 124 rooms.*

The men persisted despite the setback, and in 1909, were
again faced with the problem of fighting YPA (now known as
the Yellowstone Park Hotel Company) regarding the hotel’s
continued sales of dusters, hats, gloves, Kodak supplies, and
other dry goods. In February, they made a formal complaint
to Acting Superintendent Major Harry Benson, protesting the
actions. They ultimately won their case, but it was not until
July 1910 that Benson officially demanded that the hotel com-
pany discontinue the sale of such items.* In a similar vein, the
Wylie Permanent Camping Company was permitted, in 1909,
to maintain newsstands at its camps and lunch stations, and
allowed to market newspapers, magazines, stamps, postcards,
cigars, tobacco, candies, emergency medicines, and Kodak
films. However, the DOI amended Wylie’s lease to require
that those Wylie stations in the vicinity of the Henderson &
Lyall and Klamer stores not be permitted to establish news-
stands.® Without the protective covenants issued by the DOI,
the small general stores could easily have been pushed to ruin
by competitive actions of companies such as YPA and Wylie
that enjoyed superior investment resources.

In 1910, the DOl instituted a new policy that would affect
alllease holders in the park. A “franchise or use tax” was assessed
to all concessioners and was based on their gross receipts and
profits. The monies were to go into the general maintenance

(continued page 26)

Back of postcard with a photo of Walter Lyall Henderson
(shown right), son of Walter J. Henderson, sent on
November |1, 1903, from Lell Lyall to Helen Henderson.



The Henderson Family Today

by Lee Whittlesey, Yellowstone National Park Historian

HE HENDERSON FAMILY’S
I association with Yellowstone
didn’t end when they got out
of the park concessions business. The
descendants of George Henderson
have an active interest in the park
and their own history with it. On July
9-11, 2002, three direct descendants
and one relative-by-marriage of G.L.
Henderson visited Yellowstone. These
visitors were (James) Dean Henderson
and his son Jim Henderson of Whidbey
Island, Washington; Kathy Lynn
Henderson of Fullerton, California;
and Dean’s wife Muriel. Kathy Lynn
is the great-great-granddaughter, and
Dean the great-grandson of George
Henderson.

'

The four Henderson descendants
spent a full day in the park library,
examining materials about their fam-
ily. They looked at the park’s original
Cottage Hotel ledger, which the
Henderson daughters used for pen-
manship exercises in the 1880s, and
examined copies of G.L. Henderson’s
1885 newspaper, the Yellowstone Park
Manual and Guide. | also took them on
a walking tour of the numerous sites
at Mammoth Hot Springs that G.L.
Henderson knew and loved, many of
which were named by him. Standing in
a place where she knew her ancestors
had been, and seeing things they had

seen, was Kathy Henderson’s favorite Lile v « frviwiales garye
part of the entire trip. Walter J., son of G.L. Henderson, and his
wife, Eva Henderson.

These descendants provided the
park with a great deal of new genea-
logical information on G.L. Henderson
and his family for the park library’s
biography file. In particular, they were
able to provide information on G.L.s
first wife, Jeanette Ann Thomas, about
whom little was formerly known. They
also provided the park with a portrait
photo of Walter |. Henderson (son
of G.L.) and a group portrait of G.L.’s
daughters.

In the summer of 2004, Kathy
Henderson’s father and stepmother,
Mel and Tina Henderson of Sharbot
Lake, Ontario, Canada, came to
Mammoth Hot Springs for a short
visit. They also toured the Mammoth
I_L . . area with me. Mel is the great-grand-
Ir son of G.L. Henderson, and he and
Tina were fascinated to see and
learn about places like Orange Spring
Mound, Bath Lake, and Rath Terrace
- that his great-grandfather gave names
' to and discussed with so many park
visitors from 1882 until 1902.

NOSYIANIH NNAT AHLYX ASILINOD

Postcard of Walter L. Henderson at Beehive Geyser.
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The Yellowstone Park Store, circa 1915. New owner George Whittaker added the

glassed-in front section to the left.

funds for the park.’” Lyall & Henderson was assessed $900 for
1910, which increased to $1,600 for the 1911 season. The men
protested the amount of the tax and objected that their finan-
cial reports had not included much of the labor performed
by family members. The Secretary of the Interior responded
that the men should have included those figures in their sworn
statement for the year. The secretary also berated them for
subtracting the $3,000 payment to J.H. Ash from their profit
margin, apparently feeling that the payment should have been
accounted for in a different manner.® The secretary did agree
to lower the 1910 tax to $800, but refused to budge in 1911,
and that rate remained for the next two years.

The year 1910 was the first in which financial reports for
the store are available. Figures revealed that cash sales totaled
$35,026, with profits of $7,527 and salaries of $2,173. How-
ever, profits for the 1911-12 seasons averaged only about
$4,400. The 1912 reportaalso listed seven employees, including
a manager, cook, and five clerks.*” In addition to the stock pre-
viously advertised by the business, letterhead from the period
proclaimed “Boots and Shoes, Ladies’ and Gent’s Furnishings,
and Precious Stones.”

Lyall and Henderson were now both in their early fifties,
and they maintained residences in southern California, spent
a great deal of time separated from their families, and were
ready to relieve themselves of the responsibilities of a business
in Yellowstone. Records do not indicate how long the men
were interested in selling the business, but on January 6, 1913,
George Whittaker wrote a letter to the DOI requesting permis-
sion to have the Lyall & Henderson lease transferred into his
name. Whittaker may have been negotiating with the men for
awhile, and already worked out arrangements for the purchase
of the business. Whittaker had a long history in the park, hav-
ing been stationed as a soldier with the army at Fort Yellow-
stone in 1891, and later employed as a civilian scout from 1897
to 1909. He had worked summers since 1903 as an agent for
the Yellowstone Park Transportation Company at Yellowstone’s

Yellowstone Science 13(2) * Spring 2005

Canyon location, and spent the
past several winters as a special
agent in the Customs Service in
New York City.”® Whittaker was
probably well known to Lyall
and Henderson, and his credible
reputation and years of experi-
ence in the park would have
made them think that he was an
excellent candidate to take over
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the business.

Walter ]J. Henderson and
Alexander Lyall signed an assign-
ment of lease on February 8,
1913, that “set over to George
Whittaker...all our interest in
the lease for certain premises
situate[d] in the Yellowstone National Park... [including] all
the rights, privileges and franchises now enjoyed and accruing
to us.” This was basically the same language used in the transfer
of 1908 from Jennie Ash. The men requested that the Secretary
of the Interior ratify and confirm the transfer. Whittaker also
petitioned to have a new lease issued for a period of 10 years,
rather than taking over the existing lease that expired in 1915.%
Lewis C. Laylin of the DOI approved the transfer on Febru-
ary 25, and Whittaker signed a 10-year lease on March 13,
1913. The exact sale price for the business was not stated, but
Whittaker’s financial report for the year ending 1913 showed
a note payable for $45,098. There may also have been a down
payment made at the time of sale.”? Thirty-one years of living
and conducting business at Mammoth had now ended for the
Henderson family. Alexander Lyall departed for his residence
in San Diego, while Walter returned to Chula Vista to tend his
citrus groves and enjoy the “wonderland” of southern Califor-
nia. When brother-in-law Henry Klamer died in August 1914,
Walter returned to Yellowstone to help his sister Mary manage
the Old Faithful general store. Walter and Mary returned to
California after Charles Hamilton purchased the store in June
of the following year.”” Dean Henderson, grandson of Walter J.
Henderson, does not remember his grandfather working again
after his return to Chula Vista, aside from managing his cit-
rus groves. He recalls that Walter spent his time investing in
stocks and bonds, claiming he “could make more money in a
morning doing that than most men could make in a month
working.”

George Whittaker went on to run the store at Mammoth
for 20 years, adding a gas station to the operation in 1915, with
the advent of the “horseless carriage” in Yellowstone. He also
established a general store at Canyon in 1917, and a gas station
there a few years later. Anna Pryor and Elizabeth Trischman,
the sisters who operated the Park Curio Shop at Mammoth,
bought Whittaker out in 1932, and managed those enterprises
at Mammoth and Canyon for another 20 years.



Charles Hamilton, who started his
business in 1915, when he purchased
the Klamer Store at Old Faithful,
expanded his general store and filling
station operations to Lake, Bridge Bay,
and West Thumb. When he acquired
the Pryor Stores in January 1953, he
gained a monopoly on the general store
business in the park. Hamilton Stores
successfully operated Yellowstone’s first
general store and the other park stores
for another 50 years. In 2002, Delaware
North Companies, Inc., through the
DOTI’s competitive bidding process, won
the right to operate the general stores
and photo shops in Yellowstone. They
assumed control on January 1, 2003,
under the name “Yellowstone General
Stores,” ending 87 years of business for
the Hamilton family.

Some years ago, the Yellowstone
Park Company, then concessioner for
the park hotels, used a promotional
slogan in Yellowstone claiming, “You'll
love the way it hasn't changed!” That
may be a nice sentimental thought, but
the reality is that the park is ever-chang-
ing, both in nature and in the park’s
business world. In the park’s early days,
storekeepers had to plan far ahead in
order to make sure they were stocked
up for the short summer season. Sup-
plies were slow-coming, arriving by train
in either Gardiner or West Yellowstone
and then hauled by freight wagon over
the park’s bumpy, rutted roads. Those
carly entrepreneurs would be amazed at
the speedy, just-in-time freight service
now available to park vendors. Though
today’s visitors may experience many of
the same sights and features seen by visi-
tors 100 years ago, the manner in which
they are served by the park businesses
has completely changed. Many of the
comforts, services, and products avail-
able in Yellowstone today are much the
same as those enjoyed by folks in big cit-
ies, and pioneers such as Jennie Ash and
Henry Klamer paved the way. Only time
will tell what other changes will occur in
Yellowstone’s future.

Robert Goss is an amateur historian who
has lived and worked in the Yellowstone
area for over 30 years. He began work with
the Yellowstone Park Co., and is currently
employed by Xanterra Parks and Resorts
at Mammoth Hot Springs. This is his fifth
article on the subject of the early store-
keepers in Yellowstone. He has self-pub-
lished several books on the history of the
concessions operations in the park.
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FROM THE ARCHIVES

€1%1S T1IA ‘STAIHDYY INOLSMOTIIA

This circa 1900 photo shows a lynx, possibly in a trap. It was found in the
Yellowstone archives by Jon Dahlheim in a Yellowstone photo album that belonged
to Judge Meldrum, the first magistrate of Yellowstone National Park. It is not certain
that the photo was taken in the park.
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